IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	I	L	E	D
_	डा	5 J.	WHIT	E

NOV 8 1991

ROBERT A. PRESTON,)) '		CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Appellant,	,		Cust pehro cer
vs.	Ś	CASE NO. 78,	025
STATE OF FLORIDA,	Ś		
Appellee.	į		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1990), this
Court vacated Appellant's death sentence and remanded to cause
for a new sentencing proceeding. (R 1682-1692) Appellant filed
four separate motions to declare the death penalty
unconstitutional. (R 1718-1719, 1720-1721, 1728-1731, 1732-1736)
Appellant also filed a motion to strike certain adjectives from
the statutory mitigating circumstances. (R 1722-1725) A hearing
on these pre-trial motions was conducted on January 7, 1991,
before the Honorable S. Joseph Davis, Jr., Circuit Judge. (R
1587-1635) Following argument, the court denied all of these
pre-trial motions. (R 1596, 1605, 1609, 1611, 1769, 1770, 1771,
1774) Appellant also filed a motion to declare Section
921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes (1989) [HAC] unconstitutional,

but the trial court denied this motion. (R 1779, 1780)

Prior to the commencement of the re-sentencing proceeding, the parties filed several motions in limine. The defense filed a motion seeking to prevent any testimony or argument by the state concerning injuries which may have been inflicted upon the victim after her death. (R 1775-1776) defense also requested that the state be prevented from arquing the aggravating factors that the murder was committed to avoid arrest and that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain on the grounds that these factors had specifically been found not to exist in the prior proceeding. (R 1782-1785) The trial court denied both of these motions. (R 4-5) The state filed its motion in limine seeking to prevent the defense from producing any evidence which it characterized as reflecting on "lingering (R 1761-1762) This motion was granted. (R 1792) doubt". However, the court did permit the defense to proffer the affidavits of the two witnesses whom it sought to present. (R 1792, 1041-1042)

The initial re-sentencing proceeding was conducted from January 28, 1991 through February 1, 1991. (R 1136-1528)

However, pursuant to a defense motion for a new penalty phase, the trial court granted a new re-sentencing proceeding. (R 1810-1813, 1832-1834, 1841-1844)

A new re-sentencing proceeding was conducted on April

15 - 19, 1991 with the Honorable S. Joseph Davis. Jr., Circuit

Judge, presiding. (R 1-1134) Prior to the commencement, both

the defense and the state renewed all their previous pre-trial motions and the court reaffirmed its rulings on each. (R 4-5)

Defense counsel objected to the admission into evidence of pictures of the victim on the grounds that such pictures were not relevant to any aggravating circumstances. (R 870-873) Defense counsel also proffered into evidence affidavits of two witnesses who were prepared to testify that Appellant's brother, Scott Preston, had admitted to committing the murder. (R 1041-1042, 1985-1988, 1989-1996) Defense counsel submitted written requested jury instructions which were denied on the grounds that the standard jury instructions covered them. (R 1108-1109, 1740-1745, 1789)

Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict unanimously recommending that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R 1130, 1907) Appellant filed a timely notice for a new penalty phase. (R 1911-1912) This motion was denied. (R 1939) On April 29, 1991, Judge Davis heard arguments by both parties concerning the appropriate sentence to be imposed. (R 1636-1672) On May 8, 1991, Appellant appeared before Judge Davis for sentencing. (R 1673-1679) Judge Davis found that four aggravating circumstances had been established by the evidence and further considered one statutory and four non-statutory mitigating circumstances. (R 1675-1676) However, Judge Davis ruled that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and therefore sentence Appellant to death. (R 1677, 1914, 1925)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on May 31, 1991. (R 1962-1963) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 1927)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 2:30 a.m. on January 9, 1978, Earline Walker was working as a clerk in a Li'l Champ convenient store in Seminole County. (R 856) Later that morning, police officers stopped at the store and found that Ms. Walker and her car were missing. (R 857) A BOLO was issued for both Ms. Walker and her car, a blue Ford Pinto. (R 858) Ms. Walker's car was later found on Pine Street approximately one tenth of a mile off state Road 436. (R 858-589) Several hours later, the naked body of Ms. Walker was found in a field nearby. (R 855, 859, 841) autopsy was performed on January 10, 1978. (R 842) There were two main stab wounds found: The first was a complete severance of the trachea including both carotid arteries and both jugular veins. (R 842) The second wound was a penetrating stab wound in the upper abdomen that perforated the liver and produced tremendous hemorrhaging into the abdomen. (R 843) There were also multiple stab wounds to the forehead, the base of the nose, each breast, the right flank, the belly, and to the vagina which perforated the urinary bladder. (R 843) The first wound was the one to the neck which was cut from behind. (R 847, 844) Upon the severing of the carotid arteries, Ms. Walker suffered an immediate loss of consciousness. (R 848) Ms. Walker was not aware of anything after she lapsed into unconsciousness. The cause of death was massive external and internal injuries caused by the two main stab wounds. (R 843)

A palm print was found on the outside of Ms. Walker's

car which matched that of Appellant. (R 868-869) A latent print was also found on a cigarette package inside her car and this print also matched Appellant's, (R 868-869) Ms. Walker's clothing had no stab marks nor blood stains on them. (R 875) It was later determined that a sum of money, food stamps, and cigarettes were missing from the store. (R 876) The missing food stamps were located in Appellant's bedroom at his mother's house. (R 876) Appellant was convicted of premeditated murder, two counts of felony murder, robbery, and kidnapping. (R 887, 1980-1984)

At the time of the offense, Appellant suffered from a substantial drug addiction. (R 1046, 1023, 1374, 963, 935, 941) Four licensed psychologists and/or psychiatrists examined Appellant and came to the same conclusion. (R 922, 963, 1023, 1374) Appellant's drug usage began at age 10 and progressed from marijuana to amphetamines to cocaine to LSD and finally to PCP. (R 1043-1044) PCP is a particularly dangerous drug because it is so unpredictable. (R 925, 964, 1027) The results from PCP ingestion range from the heavily sedated to the highly agitated and aggressive and almost psychotic reaction. (R 925) Often a person is removed from reality and acts in a bizarre fashion when under the influence of PCP. (R 925, 964, 1029) For nearly one and a half years immediately preceding the time of the offense, Appellant was heavily using PCP. (R 1024, 923) Often Appellant would inject PCP two or three times a day. (R 1044) On the night of the offense, Appellant was definitely under the

influence of PCP. (R 912) Appellant asked his brother and a friend to help him tie off his arm so that he could inject PCP more readily. (R 908)

Donna Houghtaling, a friend of Appellant's, was at his house the evening of the offense. (R 904-905) She smoked marijuana and drank with Appellant until about 12:30 a.m. at which time she and Appellant's brother went into a bedroom and locked the door. (R 907) About one hour later, Appellant came to the door and asked his brother to hold his arm so he could raise a vein and thus inject drugs more readily. (\mathbf{R} 908) Ms. Houghtaling fell asleep and awakened at 4:30 a.m. (R 909) Appellant was in the living room, talking very loudly. He was in a very excited state. (R 909-910) Appellant stated, "I did it" and was trying to count some money, but was having a difficult (R 909) Appellant counted for ten to fifteen minutes but time. kept coming up with different numbers. (R 910) Appellant could not control his hands. (R 910) In Ms. Houghtaling's opinion, Appellant was definitely under the influence of PCP at that time. (R 912, 915)

Dr. Cliff Levin testified that at the time the offense was committed, Appellant was suffering a mental disorder. (R 933) It was his opinion that Appellant had difficulty in conforming his behavior to the confines of law. (R 935) It was also his opinion that although the robbery and kidnapping are very directed and motivated acts, that this was consistent with the perception of the PCP user. (R 938) The murder, however,

was a rage reaction, that is a reactive psychosis totally removed from reality. (R 938) Dr. Levin believed that at the time of the offense Appellant's judgment was impaired. (R 941) His ability to reason and to process information was not functioning at a normal level. (R 941) His ability to control behavior was significantly impaired. (R 942) Although Appellant was just over twenty years of age, Dr. Levin testified Appellant was quite immature for his age. (R 942-943) Although Appellant had aboveaverage intelligence, he dropped out of school at age 16, never maintained employment on a steady basis, and still lived at home. (R 943) This is very consistent with an immature drug-abusing adolescent. (R 943) Dr. Levin believes that Appellant has very good rehabilitative qualities. (R 945) His good prison record shows that Appellant has his impulses under control. Appellant has tremendous insight into his drug addiction and his prognosis is very good. (R 949, **953**)

Dr. Rufus Vaughn testified that in his opinion at the time of the offense, Appellant's judgment was impaired and his ability to reason was also impaired. (R 956) Appellant could not appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions and was unable to control his behavior due to lack of reasoning ability. (R 966) Appellant's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was significantly impaired. (R 968)

Dr. Gerald Mussenden testified that at the time of the offense, Appellant had little control over his behavior and was extremely disturbed. (R 1032-1033) Appellant's capacity to

appreciate the criminal nature of **his** actions, was definitely impaired. (R 1033) Appellant's ability to control his behavior was also impaired. (R 1034) Dr. Mussenden also believed that Appellant could function well in a structured setting such as prison. (R 1034) It was his opinion that Appellant's potential for rehabilitation was excellent. (R 1038)

Dr. Harry Krop testified that in his opinion,
Appellant's judgment was significantly impaired at the time of
the offense. (R 1379) Appellant's ability to reason was
impaired and he had very poor impulse control. (R 1379) This
made it very hard for Appellant to conform his conduct to that
required by society. (R 1380) Dr. Krop believed that
Appellant's prognosis for rehabilitation was very positive and
that Appellant could function quite well in prison. (R 1383)

Ted Key, a correctional officer at Florida State

Prison, testified that he has known Appellant for five to six

years. (R 975, 978) During this time, Mr. Key chaired one

disciplinary hearing concerning Appellant. (R 978) This

involved a very minor offense wherein Appellant was charged with

destruction of state property by ripping his state-issued pants.

(R 979-980) Mr. Key testified that Appellant's prison record is

exemplary. (R 980)

Appellant's mother and father both testified. (R 983, 1004) They testified that their marriage was not a good marriage, a result of Mr. Preston's inability to maintain employment and his drinking problem. (R 984, 1005) When

Appellant was eight years old, the Prestons split. (R 985, 1006)

Mr. Preston was a very poor role model for his son. (R 1006)

His children simply did not exist for him. (R 986) Appellant

was a very good person growing up and very helpful to his mother.

(R 988) When Appellant turned eighteen, Mrs. Preston started to develop a social life for herself. (R 988) Mrs. Preston started dating someone seriously in 1976 and often spent two to three nights a week away from the house. (R 989) She further testified that Appellant suffered a bicycle accident in 1972 after which she observed a personality change in Appellant. (R 990)

Appellant testified that he started using drugs at eleven years of age. (R 1043) He used all kinds of drugs and started injecting PCP at the age of fifteen. (R 1044) During the year and a half prior to the offense, Appellant used PCP daily, sometime two to three times per day. (R 1044) Appellant testified that his whole life revolved around drugs. (R 1046) Looking back, Appellant sees how stupid this was and the tragedy that it caused. (R 1046) Appellant realizes he will probably spend the rest of his life in prison, but hopes that he can take advantage of the programs and to somehow better himself. (R 1047)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I At the original sentencing proceeding in 1981, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that the aggravating circumstance of avoidance of lawful arrest was not present and that the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain merged with the aggravating circumstance of in the course of a felony. These rulings were not appealed by the state and were approved by this Court. Thus, the trial court erred in permitting the state to argue and in finding the presence of these two aggravating circumstances at the second penalty phase hearing. The findings are precluded by the doctrines of resjudicata, law of the case, double jeopardy, and fundamental fairness.

existence of certain aggravating circumstances. The aggravating circumstance of avoidance of lawful arrest is simply not present in the instant case. The state presented no evidence other than mere conjecture that the motive of the killing was to eliminate a witness. This is insufficient as a matter of law. With regard to the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain, this circumstance either merged with the aggravating circumstance of in the course of a felony or was not present since the robbery was already complete. In either case, it was improper to find this as a separate aggravating circumstance. Finally, the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel is not proved beyond a reasonable doubt. While this Court has

previously approved the finding Appellant presented much more evidence regarding his severe mental disturbance so as to lessen the finding of heinous, atrocious and cruel.

evidence two photographs of the victim which graphically and gruesomely showed wounds which were inflicted after the victim was either dead or had lapsed into unconsciousness. Thus, these photographs had no relevance to any issue of fact before the jury.

POINT IV A trial court may not refuse a capital defendant the right to present any relevant evidence in mitigation. While this Court has ruled that theory of lingering doubt is not available in Florida, the evidence sought to be presented below was directly relevant to statutory mitigating circumstances and thus its exclusion was clear error.

POINT V The trial court erred in refusing to find the mental mitigating factors set forth in the statute. The evidence presented with regard to these factors was overwhelming and uncontradicted. It was also competent and substantial. The failure of the trial court to find these factors in mitigation renders the sentence unlawful.

POINT VI Under the totality of the circumstances, the imposition of the death penalty is proportionally unwarranted in this case. Despite the presence of one or possibly two aggravating circumstances, the overwhelming evidence in mitigation leads to the conclusion that the death penalty is

unwarranted.

point VII Florida's statutory aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel is unconstitutional. The Florida statute suffers from the same infirmities condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Shell v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. ___, 112 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990).

point viii The trial court committed reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury on correct statements of law as requested by defense counsel. These requested instructions were accurate statements of law and were particularly applicable to the facts of the instant case.

POINT I

THE JURY RECOMMENDATION AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE INVALID BECAUSE THEY ARE BASED ON IMPROPER STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES; CONSIDERATION OF THESE FACTORS IS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINES OF RES JUDICATA, LAW OF THE CASE, DOUBLE JEOPARDY AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS.

When this matter was first tried, the trial judge found that the state had proved the existence of four statutory aggravating factors, those being that Preston had previously been convicted of another capital offense or felony involving the use or threat of violence to another; the capital felony was committed while Preston was engaged in the commission of a robbery and a kidnapping; the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without **pretence** of moral or legal justification. (SR 1-9) The existence of other specifically enumerated statutory aggravating factors was not proved. (SR 1-9)

On direct appeal, this Court upheld the finding of three statutory aggravating factors; the state did <u>not cross-appeal</u> the trial court's express rejection of other statutory aggravating factors. <u>See Pardo v. State</u>, 563 So.2d 77 **80** (Fla. **1990)** (successful cross-appeal by state where trial court erroneously rejected statutory aggravating factor). **Also**, in

With regard to the finding that the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, the trial court ruled that this factor would not be given separate consideration, as it merged with aggravating circumstance (d). (SR 3)

performing its independent review, this Court did not conclude that other statutory aggravating factors applied. <u>See Echols v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 576-577 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 479 U.S.

871, 107 S.Ct. 241, 93 L.Ed.2d 166 (1986) (Florida Supreme Court sua <u>sponte</u> applies statutory aggravating factor erroneously overlooked by trial judge).

It is axiomatic that the failure of a party to timely contest legal rulings of a trial court results in a procedural bar to subsequent litigation through application of the doctrine of law of the case and/or res judicata, both of which apply with full force here. Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1980).

See Gaskins v. State, 502 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (law of the case doctrine precludes re-litigation of all issues necessarily ruled upon by the court, as well as all issues on which an appeal could have been taken.) See also Flinn v.

Shields, 545 So.2d 452 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Dunham v. Brevard County School Board, 401 So.2d 888 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

Appellant's prior conviction for a felony involving violence was set aside in a post-conviction proceeding. When this Court determined that a new penalty phase must be conducted, it rejected the state's argument that a vacation of Appellant's prior violent felony conviction constituted harmless error as related to his death sentence:

In asserting harmless error, the state points to a portion of Preston's trial record which suggests that the judge did not **give** great weight to the prior violent felony because of its nature. On the other hand, we note that the prosecutor emphasized the

importance of the prior violent felony in his closing argument to the jury. In addition, only two of the four aggravating circumstances remain because this Court has previously eliminated the finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. Further, there was mitigating evidence introduced at the trial, even though no statutory mitigating circumstances were found.

Preston v. State, 564 So.2d 120, 123 (Fla. 1990) (emphasis added)

The state did not suggest that other aggravating factors should come into play in the harmless error analysis or Appellant's re-sentencing. Thus, this Court's ruling that there are only two statutory aggravating factors pertinent to the resentencing is the law of the case. In that regard, the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by deviating from the mandate expressed in Preston v. State, 564 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1990), which was to have the jury weigh the mitigating evidence against the two statutory aggravating factors that had been established and recommend an appropriate sanction. The proceedings exceeded the mandate, they were improper, and the result requires reversal pursuant to Milton v. Keith, 503 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), Dow Corning Corp. v. Garner, 452 So.2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), and Stuart v. Hertz Corp., 381 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

DOUBLE JEOPARDY

In <u>Poland v. Arizona</u>, **476** U.S. **147**, **106** S.Ct. **1749**, 90 L.Ed.2d **123** (**1986**), the defendants were convicted of capital murder. At sentencing, the state sought to prove two aggravating

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