## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OEC 19 1991

FILED

CLERK, SPEREME COURT

By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT ANTHONY PRESTON, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,025

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

I

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY** GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

# TABLE\_OF\_CONTENTS

# PAGES:

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A prior sentence, vacated on appeal, is a nullity, and POINT 1: a resentencing proceeds de novo on all issues bearing on the appropriate sentence. Preston has never been "acquitted" of the death penalty by any advisory jury, sentencing court or reviewing court, so the "clean slate" rule was applicable to his resentencing, and the trial court was free to correct any previous legal errors. A defendant should not be permitted to utilize fairness as a sword in post convictions and as a shield on resentencing, and Preston should not be heard to complain about piecemeal litigation and fundamental fairness where he waited eight years to attack a formerly valid aggravating factor, POINT 2: The facts of this murder and precedent demonstrate that there is a legal basis for each of the aggravating factors found by the trial court, and each is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Error, if any, is harmless.

photographs that POINT 3: The two were admitted during Preston's resentencing proceeding were relevant and their probative value outweighed any possible prejudice, so no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated. Error, if any, is harmless.0 Preston's claim that he was precluded from presenting POINT 4: evidence in support of two mitigating factors is not cognizable as it was never presented to the trial court below. Even if the claim is cognizable, relief is not warranted.

<u>POINT 5</u>: The testimony on Preston'smental state was based upon speculation by witnesses who did not see Preston at the time of the offense, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in

- 4 -

rejecting mitigating factors on the basis of that testimony that are refuted by the facts of the crime. The jury unanimously recommended the **death** penalty, which indicates it was not persuaded by Preston's mitigating evidence either, and this recommendation is entitled to great weight.

<u>POINT 6</u>: Compared with other cases where the jury has recommended death and the trial court has imposed a death sentence, Preston's case warrants the death penalty.

<u>POINT 7</u>: This court has consistently rejected the claim that the aggravating factor heinous, atrocious or cruel is unconstitutionally vague.

<u>POINT 8</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting very limited testimony **as** to the wounds Preston inflicted on Ms. Walker after she was rendered unconscious, but if error occurred it is harmless. The trial court did not err in not giving **two** of Preston's requested jury instructions that were confusing, not entirely correct statements, and were encompassed in the instructions the jury was given. The jury received **adequate** guidance.

- 5 -

#### POINT 1

## THE DEATH SENTENCE AND JURY RECOMMENDATION ARE BASED ON PROPER AGGRAVATING FACTORS.

Preston first contends that the trial judge exceeded the mandate of this court in Preston v. State, 564 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1990), and violated the principles of law of the case and res judicata in finding that the instant murder was committed for pecuniary gain and was committed to avoid arrest. A prior sentence, vacated on appeal, is a nullity, and a resentencing should proceed de novo on all issues bearing on the proper sentence which the jury recommends be imposed. Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986). A resentencing is a completely new proceeding, separate and distinct from the first sentencing. King v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1990). In King, this court held that a mitigating circumstance in one proceeding is not an "ultimate fact" that collateral estoppel or the law of the case would preclude being rejected on resentencing. Likewise, appellee submits that any findings on aggravating factors are not ultimate facts which would carry over into the completely new proceeding. Preston apparently did not feel restrained by these doctrines in the trial court when he presented additional mitigating evidence. Appellee would also point out that if such doctrines applied to resentencings, than this court need not address Preston's Point V, as the trial court's previous rejection of these mitigating circumstances would likewise be law of the case.

- 6 -

Preston's contention that the trial court exceeded this court's mandate is likewise without merit. This court simply remanded for resentencing, Preston, 561 So.2d at 123, which as stated, is an entirely new proceeding, and which the trial court This court has previously held that the trial judge conducted. may properly apply the law and is not bound in remand proceedings by a prior legal error. Spaziano v. State, 433 So. 2d 508 (Fla. Further, a literal interpretation of Preston's argument 1983). would mean that a new jury should have been empaneled and simply read the prior record, excluding any reference to Preston's subsequently vacated conviction. Clearly this was not the intent of this court, the **trial** court, or counsel below, as Preston was permitted to present anything additional in mitigation that he so desired.<sup>1</sup>

Preston next contends that double jeopardy principles preclude the finding of an aggravating factor on resentencing that was not faund at the original sentencing. As stated, the prior sentencing is a nullity. Teffeteller, supra; King, supra. Aggravating circumstances are not separate penalties or offenses, and the failure to find any particular aggravating factor does not "acquit" a defendant of the death penalty. Poland v. Arizona, 147 (1986). Poland involved a resentencing where the 476 U.S. trial court found one appravating factor that had previously been stricken by the appellate court (heinous, atrocious or cruel), one aggravating factor that it had previously found inapplicable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> With the exception of the evidence excluded on the grounds that it was not proper mitigating evidence. See, Point 4, infra.

(pecuniary gain), and one additional aggravating factor (as to one defendant) that it had not previously found (prior conviction involving violence). The Court refused to view the capital sentencing hearing as a set of minitrials on the existence of each aggravating circumstance, and stated:

> protecting the This concern with finality of acquittals is not implicated when, as in these case, a defendant is sentenced to death, *i.e.*, "convicted", There is no cause to shield such a defendant from further litigation; further litigation is the only hope he has. The defendant may argue on appeal that the evidence at his sentencing hearing was as а matter of law insufficient to support the aggravating circumstances on which his death penalty based, but the Double Jeopardy was Clause does not require the reviewing court, if it sustains that claim, to ignore evidence in the record supporting another aggravating circumstance which the sentencer has erroneously rejected.

*ld.* at 156-57. The court went an to hold that where a reviewing court does not find the evidence legally insufficient to justify imposition of the death penalty, there was no death penalty acquittal by that court, **so** the Double Jeopardy Clause does not foreclose a second sentencing hearing at which the "clean slate" rule applies.

Likewise, Preston has never been "acquitted" of the death penalty by any advisory jury, trial court, or reviewing court, so the "clean slate" rule is applicable to his resentencing. The trial court was free to consider factors it previously erroneously rejected, and Preston is free to argue that the evidence is insufficient to support all of the aggravating

- 8 -

factors. The Poland Court also attached no importance to the fact that the state had not cross-appealed the trial court's rejection of the pecuniary gain aggravating factor, noting that the state court had not accorded significance to it, so it could not **say** as a matter of state law that the court was precluded from considering the evidence regarding this factor. Likewise, in Spaziano, supra, this court attached no significance to the fact that the state had not cross-appealed, and pursuant to Florida law the trial court is not bound by prior legal error. See also, Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990) (no double jeopardy violation in applying aggravating factor of under sentence of imprisonment on resentencing even though it was not found at first sentencing). Appellee would also point out that this court has found it is not error to apply the aggravating factor cold, calculated and premeditated on resentencing when it was not available at the original sentencing. Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991). See also, Douglas v. State, 575 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991).

Finally, Preston argues that fundamental fairness and the need to avoid piecemeal litigation in capital cases require that only those aggravating factors that were found in **1981** can apply. Preston contends that there is no *bona fide* reason for the state not to pursue, at the time a defendant is initially sentenced, all of the statutory aggravating factors that can arguably apply to a defendant's case. Preston certainly should not be heard to complain about piecemeal litigation and fairness. At the time Preston was sentenced in 1981, his prior violent felony

- 9 -

conviction had been final for six months. See, Preston v. State, 397 So.2d 712 (Fla. 1981). One motion for post conviction relief (which Preston was permitted to amend), one petition for writ of habeas corpus, one petition for writ of error coram nobis, and eight years later, Preston successfully moved to vacate that conviction. This court has refused to apply a procedural bar in situations where a defendant sits on a claim like that for years, see, Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 851 (Fla. 1990), no doubt because it would not be "fair". A defendant should not be permitted to utilize "fairness" in this aspect as a sword in post conviction proceedings and as a shield on resentencing. In a situation such as this, where the state relies on a valid prior conviction in sentencing, and through no fault of the state and through unforeseeable circumstances that factor is stricken eight years later, and a resentencing is ordered, a defendant should not be heard to complain that fundamental fairness requires that the state rely only on the original aggravating factors, one of which is gone.

Even if this court finds that any of Preston's arguments have merit, appellee submits that it would only apply to the avoid arrest factor, as the trial court previously found that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain, but simply weighed it under the committed during a robbery/kidnapping aggravating factor (Supp. R. 3). Further, even if error occurred in this respect it is harmless at worst, as the trial court specifically stated that two aggravating circumstances alone (during a kidnapping and heinous, atrocious and cruel) are sufficient to

- 10 -

outweigh the mitigating circumstances (R 1925). Death is the appropriate penalty. See, Jones v. State, 580 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1991) (trial court specifically stated stricken aggravating circumstance was not determinative and death would have been imposed in its absence); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991) (trial court stated that mitigating evidence was outweighed by any one aggravating factor).

#### POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE MURDER OF EARLINE WALKER WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID ARREST; FOR PECUNIARY GAIN; DURING THE COURSE OF A KIDNAPPING; AND WAS HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL.

Preston acknowledges that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery and/or kidnapping, but contends that the remaining aggravating circumstances are not supported by competent, substantial evidence, When there is a legal basis to support an aggravating factor, a reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990). The resolution of factual conflicts is solely the responsibility and duty of the trial judge and an appellate court has no authority to reweigh that evidence. Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1991). In arriving at a determination of whether an aggravating circumstance has been proved the trial judge may apply a "common-sense inference from the circumstances". Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988); Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991). When a trial judge, mindful of the applicable standard of proof, finds that an aggravating circumstance has been established, this finding should not be overturned unless there is a lack of competent substantial evidence to support it. Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988). The facts of this murder and precedent demonstrate that there is a legal basis for each of the aggravating factors found by the trial court, and each is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Appellee will first review those facts, then specifically address each of Preston's challenges.

Preston knew of a place where he could get some money (R 916). He left his house, and went to the convenience store where Earline Walker was working and robbed it; he took cash, food stamps and cigarettes (R 876). After locking the door to the store, Preston and Ms. Walker got into her car and drove approximately two miles and parked (R 855). They got out of the car and walked approximately 500-600 feet into a vacant field (R 855). All of Ms. Walker's clothes, except her tennis shoes, were removed (R 869). Preston slashed her throat from ear to ear, slicing through both jugular veins and carotid arteries, virtually severing Ms. Walker's head from her body (R 842-43). Ms. Walker had one small defensive wound on her finger (R 844). Preston stabbed Ms. Walker in the stomach, and carved up her breast, vagina and forehead (R 842-43). Preston returned home with cash, woke up his brother and his brother's girlfriend, and said "I did it" (R 909).

## Avoid arrest

A motive to eliminate a witness to an antecedent crime can provide the basis for this aggravating factor, and it is not necessary that an arrest be imminent at the time of the murder. *Swafford, supra.* Even though there was no direct statement that Preston murdered Ms. Walker to eliminate her as a witness, the common sense inference that can be drawn from these facts indicates that was his motive. *Id.; Occhicone, supra.* The facts in *Swafford* are virtually identical to those in the instant case, and this court found this aggravating factor was applicable. *Id.* at 276. Preston knew a place to get money, and that place was a store close to his home. Preston had robbed the store, and did not simply leave or kill Ms. Walker at the store, either of which would have strongly increased chances of his detection, but forced her to drive several miles from the store where she was forced to strip then murdered. The wound inflicted by Preston, a virtual severing of Ms. Walker's head, was one sure to cause death. The circumstances of this murder are similar to those in many cases where the arrest avoidance factor has been approved. *Id.; Cave v. State,* 476 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1985); *Engle v. State,* 510 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1987); *Routly v. State,* 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983); *Burr v. State,* 466 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1985).

Even if for some reason this court determines that the trial court erred in finding this factor, any error is harmless. trial The court specifically stated that two aggravating circumstances alone (during a kidnapping and heinous, atrocious sufficient and cruel) to outweigh the mitigating are circumstances (R 1925). Death is the appropriate penalty. See. Jones, supra; Young, supra.

# Pecuniary gain/Course of a kidnapping

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